No. 45512-9-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

In re the Detention of:

MICHAEL SEASE,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

GREGORY C. LINK Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Michael Sease was initially committed based upon his diagnoses of antisocial personality disorder and borderline personality disorder. At trial, the State's expert concluded those two diagnoses made Mr. Sease more likely than not to reoffend. The State's expert specifically told the jury that a third diagnosis, narcissistic personality disorder did not make him more likely than not to reoffend. Based on that evidence the jury found Mr. Sease met the criteria for commitment.

After more than 5 years of commitment and treatment, Mr. Sease no longer meets the diagnostic criteria for either antisocial personality disorder or borderline personality disorder. Instead, the only remaining diagnosis is narcissistic personality disorder. Based upon his positive change through treatment Mr. Sease petitioned for his release under RCW 71.09.090.

Although the State's evidence failed to establish Mr. Sease continued to meet the definition of a sexually violent predator (SVP) and Mr. Sease presented evidence sufficient to establish probable cause to believe his mental condition had changed as a result of treatment, the court erroneously denied Mr. Sease's petition for a release trial.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in concluding Mr. Sease was not entitled to a new trial under RCW 71.09.090.
- 2. The trial court's ruling denying Mr. Sease a new trial deprives Mr. Sease of due process contrary to the Fourteenth Amendment.
- 3. In the absence of sufficient evidence to support it, the trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact 3.
- 4. In the absence of sufficient evidence to support it, the trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact 4.
- 5. In the absence of sufficient evidence to support it, the trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact 5.
- 6. In the absence of sufficient evidence to support it, the trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact 6.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. RCW 71.09.090 requires a court order a new trial where the State fails to offer prime facie evidence that a committed person's condition has not changed such that he no longer meets the definition of a SVP. Here, the State's experts agree Mr. Sease no longer suffers from either mental condition which led to his commitment. Did the State meet its burden of proof?

- 2. RCW 71.09.090 requires a court order a new trial where the committed person establishes probable cause to believe his condition has changed as a result of treatment. Where Mr. Sease offered expert opinion that the mental conditions which led to his commitment no longer exist due to his positive response to treatment did the trial court err in denying him a new trial under RCW 71.09.090?
- 3. The Fourteenth Amendment's guarantee of substantive due process is violated where the State continues to confine a person once the mental condition which led to commitment has resolved. In such instances further commitment is permitted only after trial on the question of "current mental illness and dangerousness." Where the conditions which led to his commitment have been resolved, can the State constitutionally continue to confine Mr. Sease without affording him a new trial on his current mental illness?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to Mr. Sease's commitment trial in 2007, Dr. Dennis

Doren, an expert retained by the State diagnosed Mr. Sease with three

personality disorders: (1) antisocial personality disorder; (2) borderline

personality disorder; and (3) narcissistic personality disorder. *In re the*Detention of Sease, 149 Wn. App. 66, 71, 201 P.3d 1078 (2009). At

trial, Dr. Doren testified before the jury that Mr. Sease's "antisocial personality disorder and his borderline personality disorder, each make him likely to engage [engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if he is not confined to a secure facility]." *Id.* at 72-73. Dr. Doren described the narcissistic personality disorder, however, as merely "other risk considerations' for re-offense." *Id.* at 72.

In his most recent annual review, Dr. Kirk Newring allows Mr. Sease has made "some progress in his treatment." CP 262. Dr. Newring added "despite... setbacks it appears he is continuing to progress." Id. Critically, the State's evaluators no longer diagnose Mr. Sease with either antisocial personality disorder or borderline personality disorder. Instead, the State's experts now opine that he suffers only from narcissistic personality disorder. CP 256.¹

Missing from Dr. Newring's evaluation is a conclusion that Mr. Sease continues to meet the definition of sexually violent predator.

Specifically he never concludes that Mr. Sease is more likely than not to commit crimes of sexual violence as a result of his disorder. Instead

¹ Dr. Newring also diagnosed Mr. Sease as suffering from alcohol dependence, cognitive disorder and borderline intellectual functioning. CP 256. However none of these diagnoses were offered as justification for further commitment.

the evaluation merely concludes Mr. Sease's mental condition "seriously impairs" his ability to control his behavior. CP 263.

The evaluation reports actuarial risk assessments indicating Mr. Sease is only 19.6% and 27.7% likely to reoffend in five and ten years respectively. CP 258. Although it states it is difficult to say which apply to Mr. Sease, the evaluation addresses other factors which may increase the risk of reoffense. CP 258-62. But after doing so, the evaluation never opines or concludes Mr. Sease is more likely than not to reoffend.

Moreover, the report does not address how a current diagnosis of narcissistic personality disorder makes Mr. Sease more likely to reoffend when Dr. Doren specifically told jurors it did not.

Dr. Brian Abbot offered his own evaluation of Mr. Sease. Dr. Abbott stated that in assessing Mr. Sease's current mental condition it was necessary to assume the initial diagnoses of antisocial personality disorder and borderline personality disorder were properly made. CP 313. Dr. Abbott detailed Mr. Sease's participation in treatment while confined. CP 308-09. Dr. Abbot's review of treatment records led him to conclude "it is apparent he has made steady progress dealing with the two commitment personality disorders as evidenced by the lack of

symptoms necessary to substantiate he suffers from Antisocial Personality Disorder and Borderline Personality Disorder currently." CP 308. Dr. Abbott noted that each annual reviewer following Mr. Sease's commitment in 2007 had been unable to conclude Mr. Sease met the diagnostic criteria for either disorder. CP 309-10.

Based upon the change in diagnosis and the evaluation offered by the State, Mr. Sease argued the State had not met its burden under RCW 71.09.090 to show he continued to meet the requirements for confinement. Appendix at 9-10, 23-25. Alternatively, based upon Dr. Abbott's evaluation, Mr. Sease argued he met his burden of showing probable cause to warrant a new trial on his release.

The trial court concluded Mr. Sease was not entitled to a new trial. CP 359-61; RP 37-38.

This Court granted Mr. Sease's motion for discretionary review.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A court must order a new trial under RCW 71.09.090 if either (1) the State fails to present prima facie evidence that the committed person continues to meet the definition of an SVP, or (2) probable cause exists to believe that the person's condition has so changed that he no longer meets the definition of an SVP.

The trial court did not find Mr. Sease suffered from either diagnosis which led to his commitment. CP 359-61. The court, nonetheless, concluded his mental condition had not changed. CP 360.

A new trial was warranted under both alternatives.

Mr. Sease remains indefinitely confined based upon an evolving diagnosis. That diagnosis has never been found to support commitment by a jury. Indeed, the jury was told by the State that diagnosis does not support commitment. The evolving opinions of the State's experts render the show cause provisions of RCW 71.09.090 a hollow promise, as it does not matter what progress Mr. Sease makes in treatment so long as an evaluator employed by the State imagines and opines a new diagnosis warrants continued confinement.

- 1. The State did not offer prime facie evidence that Mr. Sease continues to meet the definition of a sexually violent predator.
 - a. Mr. Sease's condition has changed.

Even where an initial commitment is proper, the State violates due process when it continues to confine a person who is no longer both mentally ill and dangerous. *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 77, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992) (reversing where individual was dangerous but no longer suffered from psychosis). "Periodic

review of the patient's suitability for release" is required to render commitment constitutional. *Jones v. United States*, 463 U.S. 354, 368, 103 S. Ct. 3043, 77 L. Ed. 2d 3043 (1984). Due process mandates that the State release a committed person "when the basis for holding him or her in the psychiatric facility disappears." *State v. Sommerville*, 86 Wn. App. 700, 710, 937 P.2d 1317 (1997) (reversing and remanding for conditional release due to insufficient evidence of mental illness, even though State's psychiatrist reported defendant currently suffered from "impulse control disorder not otherwise specified, in partial remission"). Specifically, assuming "the initial commitment was permissible, 'it [can] not constitutionally continue after that basis no longer exists." *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 77 (quoting, *O'Connor v. Donaldson*, 422 U.S. 563, 575, 95 S. Ct. 2486, 45 L.Ed.2d 396 (1975)).

Consistent with those holdings, the Supreme Court concluded commitment under RCW 71.09 does not offend substantive due process because it is "tailored to the nature and duration of **the** mental illness" *In re the Detention of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 39, 857 P.2d 989 (1993) (emphasis added). This Court has previously explained the State's burden at the show cause hearing:

State must make its prima facie case for continued commitment by presenting evidence that (1) the SVP's

mental abnormality or personality disorder has not changed, and (2) this mental abnormality will likely cause the SVP to be a danger to the community if released.

In re the Detention of Fox, 138 Wn. App. 374, 397, 158 P.3d 69, 80 (2007) (citing In re the Detention of Petersen, 145 Wn.2d 789, 798, 42 P.3d 952 (2002)).

Here, the State did not prove that Mr. Sease's disorders remained unchanged. Indeed, the State's evidence established the opposite. While he was committed based upon diagnoses of antisocial personality disorder and borderline personality disorder, he no longer suffers either condition. Instead, the State now says he only suffers one disorder, narcissistic personality disorder. However, the only evidence ever presented to a jury was that that disorder did not make him likely to reoffend. And importantly, Dr. Newring still does not draw that conclusion.

b. There is no statutory authority to continue to confine Mr. Sease based upon a new diagnosis.

The State does not dispute that Mr. Sease no longer meets the criteria of either diagnoses which led to his commitment. Instead, ignoring dictates of due process and the Supreme Court's interpretation of the statutory scheme, the State argued below that so long as its

evaluator believes Mr. Sease meets the diagnosis of "a" mental illness even if not "the" mental illness that led the jury to commit him, the State may continue to confine him. Specifically the State opined, that Mr. Sease's confinement could be continued based upon the very diagnosis the state's own expert had told the jury would not support commitment at trial. In essence, the State contended that a commitment trial is merely a threshold requirement, which when crossed permits indefinite confinement based upon the ever-evolving opinions of the evaluators retained by the State.

In response to Mr. Sease's motion for discretionary review the State went so far as to claim that in assessing whether someone's mental condition has changed their diagnosis is immaterial. Response at 3. This is a truly remarkable claim for application of a statute which is grounded in the treatment of mental conditions. If the diagnosis is immaterial, it begs the question why do the state's evaluators bother to offer any diagnosis at all? If the diagnosis is immaterial, why then did the Legislature require that to establish a "personality disorder" the State must offer evidence of a licensed psychiatrist or psychologist? RCW 71.09.020(9). If a change in diagnosis does not equate to a change in condition the later term is devoid of meaning. Plainly a

person's diagnosis is quite material to his condition and a change in that diagnosis is very material to the question of whether his condition has changed.

The State's claim is based entirely upon an overly broad reading of a single case. In support of its argument, the State relied upon the opinion in *State v. Klein*, 156 Wn.2d 103, 124 P.3d 644 (2005). *Klein* involved an appeal of a release trial concerning a person previously found not guilty by reason of insanity. The relevant statute places the burden of proof upon the petitioner to establish she no longer suffers from "a" mental illness and is no longer dangerous. The trial court found the committed person continued to suffer from a mental illness that made her dangerous, and thus denied her petition for release.

The first distinction between *Klein* and this case is the procedural posture of each case. Here, the question is whether Mr. Sease is entitled to a trial on his release, there the question was whether following such a trial there was sufficient evidence to deny the petition for release. *Klein* concluded there was factual support for the trial court's decision to deny the petition after trial. Nothing in that opinion even holds that the trial court was required to deny the committed

person's petition. The Court merely found there was substantial evidence to support that conclusion. *Klein's* conclusion that there was substantial evidence to support the result of the trial, does not lead to the conclusion that the committed person was not entitled to the trial in the first place. But that is the position the State has advanced here, and which the trial court relied upon. In fact, that the petitioner in *Klein* was entitled to a hearing on her petition supports Mr. Sease's claim that he is also entitled to such a trial.

Second, RCW 10.77.200, the statute at issue in *Klein*, requires the committed person to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he no longer suffer from "a mental disease or defect" which made him a danger to others or substantially likely to commit criminal acts. *Klein* found it significant that the statute used the indefinite term "a mental disease or defect" instead of "the mental disease or defect." 156 Wn.2d. at 119. RCW 71.09.090 does not employ the indefinite article upon which *Klein* relied. In fact, *Young* made clear the duration of commitment is limited to the period during which the person suffers "the" mental illness which led to commitment. 122 Wn.2d at 39, *Fox*, 138 Wn. App. at 397.

In addition, under the insanity statutes, once a person is acquitted based upon insanity, their insanity is presumed to continue until they prove otherwise. *State v. Platt*, 143 Wn.2d 242, 250, 19 P.3d 412 (2001). There is no similar presumption or burden of proof under RCW 71.09. Indeed, the State and not the committed person has the initial obligation of producing prime facie evidence justifying continued confinement. *See Petersen*, 145 Wn.2d at 796 (State bears the burden of proof at the show cause hearing).

Unlike RCW10.77.200, RCW 71.09.090 does not permit continued confinement based on any mental disease or defect. Instead, consistent with due process the scope and duration of commitment is limited to the duration of the mental illness which led to commitment in the first place. *Young* 122 Wn.2d at 39. Because the jury did not commit Mr. Sease based upon his narcissistic personality disorder, and was in fact told that disorder did not warrant commitment, the State may not now justify his continued confinement based upon that disorder.

b. Mr. Sease confinement based upon a new diagnosis violates his right to Due Process unless he is first afforded a trial on whether that diagnosis makes him an SVP.

Foucha demonstrates the constitutional limits of detention. There the defendant was found not guilty by reasons of insanity, most likely due to a drug induced psychosis. 504 U.S. at 74-75. Because he was both mentally ill and dangerous, Mr. Foucha was committed to a state hospital. Id. at 74. Several years later state doctors concluded that while he was still dangerous, he no longer suffered psychosis, although he did have antisocial personality disorder. Id at 75. The State maintained that because he was still deemed dangerous his indefinite commitment could constitutionally continue based upon the new diagnosis.

The Supreme Court rejected the state's claim because "the basis for holding Foucha in a psychiatric facility as an insanity acquittee has disappeared." 504 U.S. at 78. The Court held that if the state wished to continue to confine him he was first entitled to a determination of "current mental illness and dangerousness." *Id.* In doing so the state was required to provide "the protections constitutionally required in a civil commitment proceeding." *Id.* at 79 (Discussing *Jackson v. Indiana*, 406 U.S. 715, 738, 92 S. Ct. 1845, 32 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1972)).

Here, as in *Foucha*, there has not been a determination of "current mental illness and dangerousness" in a manner which provides "the protections constitutionally required in a civil commitment proceeding." That is all Mr. Sease seeks. Mr. Sease does not argue that his change in condition mandates his release. Instead, consistent with the holding in *Foucha*, his change in condition mandates a new trial.

Further, even if the State may continue to commit a person who no longer suffers from the diagnoses upon which the jury committed him, it still must offer evidence that the newly minted diagnosis supports the conclusion that the person is an SVP. *See* RCW 71.09.090(2)(c)(i) (State must offer prime facie evidence that person continues to meet definition of SVP). The State did not do that here.

Dr. Newring never tied his replacement diagnosis to Mr. Sease's likelihood to reoffend. In fact, he never concluded that Mr. Sease is more likely than not commit new sexual offenses. First, even accepting the State's argument that it is free to substitute one diagnosis for another, there remains the problem that there is no evidence that substitute diagnosis makes Mr. Sease more likely than not to reoffend. Instead, all Dr. Newring concluded was that Mr. Sease has a mental conditionally which seriously impairs his ability to control his offense

behavior. CP 263. But even if true, that does not mean he is more likely than not to reoffend.

Further, Dr. Newring never addressed how narcissistic personality disorder now makes Mr. Sease more likely to reoffend, when at trial the State told the jury it did not. There is no explanation of that change of position.

Here, "the" mental illness has been resolved as a result of treatment. The State does not dispute that Mr. Sease no longer meets the criteria of either diagnoses which led to his commitment. Because the jury did not commit Mr. Sease based upon his narcissistic personality disorder, and was in fact told that disorder did not warrant commitment, the State may not now justify his continued confinement based upon that disorder. That is not to say the State could not seek to commit Mr. Sease based upon a newly-minted diagnosis, just that due process dictates that the State do so at a new trial and not simply based upon the opinion of the State's evaluators. The State did not present prime facie evidence that Mr. Sease continues meet the requirements for commitment.

2. Mr. Sease established probable cause that his condition had changed as a result of treatment.

Probable cause exists where there are sufficient facts which if believed would establish a proposition. *Petersen*, 145 Wn.2d at 797. When assessing whether probable cause exists, a court is not permitted to weigh the evidence. *Id.* at 798. Under RCW 71.09.090(4)

Probable cause exists to believe that a person's condition has "so changed," under subsection (2) of this section, only when evidence exists, since the person's last commitment trial, or less restrictive alternative revocation proceeding, of a substantial change in the person's physical or mental condition such that the person either no longer meets the definition of a sexually violent predator or that a conditional release to a less restrictive alternative is in the person's best interest and conditions can be imposed to adequately protect the community.

Mr. Sease's evidence more than satisfies the probable cause standard.

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