COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

MICHAEL SEASE,

Petitioner.

OPENING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA #14514 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430 OID #91094

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Properly Determined That The State Had Made A Prima Facie Case For Continued Confinement

Sease's argument that he is entitled to a new trial based on a minor adjustment in diagnosis fails for at least three reasons: First, as a factual matter, Sease mischaracterizes Dr. Newring's report, which clearly sets forth facts sufficient to establish the State's prima facie case. Second,

¹ See In re Sease, COA No. 39165-1-II, Ruling Denying Review dated June 19, 2009; COA No. 41524-1-II, Ruling of Dismissal dated October 3, 2012; COA No. 43212-9-II; Ruling Denying Review dated September 4, 2012.

Washington precedent establishes that a diagnosis of mental illness need not be perfectly static to justify continued civil commitment. Third, United States Supreme Court authority recognizes that a diagnosis of mental illness justifying civil commitment is necessarily subject to change, but that such changes do not affect the constitutionality of a continued civil commitment.

Sease asserts that the State's experts "agree Mr. Sease no longer suffers from either mental condition which led to his commitment." App. Br. at 2. He further asserts that "the State's experts now opine that he suffers only from narcissistic personality disorder" (Id. at 4) and that this demonstrates that Sease's "condition has changed." Id. at 7. This argument is misleading because it ignores the fundamental similarity between the diagnoses assigned at the time of trial and those assigned by Dr. Newring, and because it suggests that the SCC psychologist assigned different diagnoses because he believed Sease has "changed." In fact, the only thing that has changed is the psychologist performing the evaluation, and the "change" in diagnoses demonstrates only something that the courts have long recognized: That reasonable minds can differ regarding the way in which to best conceptualize complex mental conditions. Dr. Newring's report contains all of the necessary components to establish the State's prima facie case, and the trial court's order should be affirmed.

1. Purpose and Procedure of the RCW 71.09.090 Show Cause Hearing

A person committed as an SVP to the custody of the Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS") is entitled to an annual review of his mental condition by DSHS. RCW 71.09.070. DSHS's annual review evaluation must address whether the committed person continues to meet the definition of an SVP.² The SVP may also submit his own expert evaluation to the court. *Id.* At the show cause hearing that follows these submissions, the State must "present prima facie evidence that the committed person continues to meet the definition of a sexually violent predator..." RCW 71.09.090(2)(c). If the State fails to meet its burden, the court must order a new trial. RCW 71.09.090(2)(c).

Once the State has made its prima facie case, a new trial will be granted only upon a showing that there is probable cause to believe that evidence exists, since the person's last commitment trial, that: 1) there has been a "substantial" change in the respondent's condition; and 2) the change results from either a permanent physiological event such as a stroke or dementia rendering the committed person unable to reoffend, or from a "positive response to continuing participation in treatment." RCW

² The Statute also mandates consideration of the propriety of placement in an LRA, or Less Restrictive Alternative. Because this case does not involve consideration of LRAs, statutory reference to LRAs will be omitted.

71.09.090(4)(c). A change in a single demographic factor—such as age, marital status, or gender of the committed person—without more, does not establish probable cause. *Id.* These requirements have withstood repeated challenge in the appellate courts of this State, most recently in *State v. McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012).

2. Dr. Newring's Report Establishes The State's Prima Facie Case

Dr. Newring, applying the diagnostic criteria in the American Psychiatric Association, *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision* ("DSM-IV-TR"), rendered diagnoses of Alcohol Dependence, In a Controlled Environment; Cognitive Disorder, NOS; a Rule-Out diagnosis of Paraphilia, Not Otherwise Specified, Nonconsent; Narcissistic Personality Disorder with Borderline, Antisocial, Sadistic and Paranoid features; and Borderline Intellectual Functioning. CP at 256. "There is little doubt," he wrote, "that Mr. Sease presents with a significant overall pattern of personality dysfunction that has severely impacted his ability to function without substantial difficulties both in the community and within institutional settings." *Id.* at 257. Noting that Dr. Saari, in his 2008 and 2009 reviews, had "asserted that Mr. Sease's overall pattern of personality dysfunction was essentially narcissistic although he had prominent borderline and

antisocial features" as well, Dr. Newring pointed to "specific indicators of personality disorder," including Sease's "acknowledged history of manipulation of others for personal gain, tenuous and chaotic interpersonal relationships, interpersonal entitlement, poor showing of empathy, verbal and physical behavior that appears intended to cause harm or hurt to others (e.g. victim A.H./AIDS, denigrating peers at SCC), grandiose self-worth, and difficulty following rules." *Id.* Dr. Newring ultimately concluded that Sease "continues to present with a mental condition(s) that seriously impairs his ability to control his sexually violent behavior." *Id.* at 263.

Dr. Newring also conducted a comprehensive risk assessment. As part of that assessment, he scored Sease on the Static-99R, a widely-used actuarial tool that measures a sex offender's risk of being charged or convicted with another sexual offense. CP at 257. While his score most closely resembles scores of those who reoffend at a rate of 27.7 percent over a period of 10 years, Dr. Newring noted that Sease's score is higher than 81.4 to 89.7 percent of sex offenders, and that his relative risk of reoffense is 2.23 times higher than the average sexual offender. *Id.* at 258. 102. Nor, he emphasized, was Sease's actuarial score dispositive of his overall risk: The Static-99R score, he wrote, "is only one measure of risk for reoffending" and "should be considered with other sources of clinical information for purposes of an individualized assessment." *Id.* Such scores

"may under-represent true prevalence rates" because of under-reporting and because Static-99R estimates are limited to 10 years "even though research suggests that a 15- year risk estimate can be helpful." *Id*.

In addition to the "static," or unchanging, factors considered in the actuarial instrument, Dr. Newring also considered numerous "dynamic" risk factors. Sex offender treatment, Dr. Newring wrote, is intended "to address those risk factors that can be modified through intervention (dynamic risk factors) so that Mr. Sease's risk can be managed to a point that he can safely be transitioned to a less restrictive alternative." CP at 258. Dr. Newring identified dynamic factors that increase Sease's risk: He experiences general social rejection, and continues to experience a "high degree of negative emotionality and hostility much of the time." Id. at 259. This "negative emotionality" is not simply a problem in his relationships with peers. Records also indicate that "distinct episodes of negative emotionality in his relationship with his girlfriend were followed by sexual offending" and indeed, Sease himself has shown "increasing awareness of some of the emotional precursors to one of his sexual offenses." Id.

Sease has also demonstrated a history of poor relations with people in positions of authority and, in relation to therapists at the SCC, has been demanding and entitled, threatening self-harm in order to coerce others to

conform to his wishes. CP at 259. Sease was expelled from his treatment group, and Dr. Newring notes that this factor "will be pertinent for the foreseeable future." *Id.* Sease also continues to have problem-solving deficits, "apparent in behaviors such as difficulties in acknowledging negative consequences even when these are pointed out, repeatedly making poor decisions, and failing to recognize obvious problems." *Id.* at 259-60. In Sease's case, Dr. Newring sees "a comingling of these primary risk factors." *Id.* at 260.

Mr. Sease appears to struggle with negative emotionality, perhaps exacerbated by feelings of social isolation. Rather than address these concerns prosocially and effectively, he verbally harangues others, perhaps in an effort to alleviate his own discomfort, resulting in discomfort for those he castigates. Lacking the skills or motivations to tolerate his own distress, he has engaged in behaviors to make himself feel better, at least temporarily, at the expense of others. ...Mr. Sease's pattern of behaviors appears consistent with his sexual offense behavior, and may aptly be described as offense-analogue behaviors.

Id. (emphasis added).

Dr. Newring also addressed so-called "secondary" risk factors. These include several factors more intuitively associated with sexual offending, such as sexual pre-occupations/sex drive, sexualized coping, deviant sexual interests. CP at 260-61. While Sease has a history of kidnap, rape, and frequenting prostitutes, Dr. Newring repeatedly notes that, because Sease has never talked openly and transparently with

treatment providers, little is known about the cognitive factors and sexual emotions that drove his offending. *Id.* at 261. Sease continues, however, to have problems with impulsivity, acting "without considering the farreaching negative consequences of his conduct." Id. Nor does he appear to have ever made use of potentially prosocial relationships, and has failed to follow the advice of reportedly close friends and his sister to engage in sex-offender specific treatment. *Id.* at 262. Finally, while he showed some capacity for a stable relationship in the past, having lived with a girlfriend for a number of years, "the relationship was tumultuous, [and] involved allegations of abuse and infidelity." Id. Nor did that relationship prevent Sease, who committed his most recent offenses while in that relationship, from sexually offending. Id. In conclusion, Dr. Newring notes that, while Sease has made "incremental progress," he "continues to demonstrate offense-analogue behaviors while in total confinement," and remains "a challenging individual" with "significant barriers to overcome before he should be considered ready for a less restrictive setting." *Id*.

Sease argues that, because Dr. Newring did not specifically state that he continues to meet criteria for commitment, or that is he is more likely than not to reoffend, his report is insufficient to support the State's prima facie case. App. Br. at 4-5. This argument lacks merit. Noting that Sease had been civilly committed and that that commitment was to

continue "until his condition has changed such that he no longer meets the definition of sexually violent predator" or can be released to a less restrictive alternative, he concludes that Sease "continues to present with a mental condition(s) that seriously impairs his ability to control his sexually violent behavior" and is not appropriate for release to a less restrictive alternative. CP at 263. It is clear from Dr. Newring's report that 1) he believes that appellant suffers from mental disorders that make him likely to reoffend; 2) considering both his scores on actuarial instruments and dynamic risk factors, he is more likely than not to be; and 3) he continues to meet criteria as a sexually violent predator. The show cause hearing is intended as a "summary proceeding" in which the trial court determines whether there is probable cause for a new trial. When the evaluating expert's opinion is abundantly clear from the context, and where the report provides a sufficient factual basis for the conclusions reached, the expert's failure to use certain magic words does not invalidate the report or strip it of its value for purposes of the states prima facie case.

B. An Adjustment In Diagnosis Does Not Entitle Sease To A New Trial

Sease essentially argues that, because his personality disorder was once described as Narcissistic, Borderline, and Antisocial, but is *now* described as: Narcissistic with Borderline, Antisocial, and Sadistic

features, he is entitled to a new trial. This Court should reject this argument, in that neither the statute nor the Constitution requires that that continued confinement be predicated on the identical diagnosis rendered at the time of the initial commitment. A minor adjustment of diagnosis that simply reflects a slightly different conceptualization of the underlying pathology that drives an individual to offend in a sexually violent manner does not require a new trial.

1. There Has Been No "Change" In Sease's Mental Condition

Over the years, different psychologists, confronted with Sease's myriad problems, have conceptualized Sease's mental disorders in different ways. When he was seen at Western State Hospital after having been discovered preparing to jump from the Narrows Bridge when he was 25, he was assigned diagnoses of Adjustment Disorder with Mixed Emotions and Dependent Personality Traits. CP at 268-69. In 1990, DOC psychologist Dr. Thomas Foley was asked to assess Sease in response to his self-mutilating behaviors. *Id.* at 269. Dr. Foley assigned Sease diagnoses of Antisocial Personality Disorder³ and Borderline Personality

³ Several editions of the APA's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders ("the DSM") have been published since Sease's first known psychological evaluation: the DSM III-R (1987); the DSM IV(1994), and the DSM IV-TR (2000). The definition of Antisocial Personality Disorder has remained largely unchanged throughout this period. The DSM-IV-TR defines antisocial personality disorder as follows:

Disorder.⁴ Id. Testing later administered by Dr. Foley⁵ yielded scores similar to those of people "who have a great deal of difficulty

- A) There is a pervasive pattern of disregard for and violation of the rights of others occurring since age 15 years, as indicated by three or more of the following:
 - 1. failure to conform to social norms with respect to lawful behaviors as indicated by repeatedly performing acts that are grounds for arrest;
 - 2. deception, as indicated by repeatedly lying, use of aliases, or conning others for personal profit or pleasure;
 - 3. impulsivity or failure to plan ahead;
 - 4. irritability and aggressiveness, as indicated by repeated physical fights or assaults;
 - 5. reckless disregard for safety of self or others;
 - 6. consistent irresponsibility, as indicated by repeated failure to sustain consistent work behavior or honor financial obligations;
 - 7. lack of remorse, as indicated by being indifferent to or rationalizing having hurt, mistreated, or stolen from another;
- B) The individual is at least age 18 years.
- C) There is evidence of conduct disorder with onset before age 15 years.
- D) The occurrence of antisocial behavior is not exclusively during the course of schizophrenia or a manic episode.

A pervasive pattern of instability of interpersonal relationships, self-image, and affects, and marked impulsivity beginning by early adulthood and present in a variety of contexts, as indicated by five (or more) of the following:

- (1) frantic efforts to avoid real or imagined abandonment. Note: Do not include suicidal or self-mutilating behavior covered in Criterion 5.
- (2) a pattern of unstable and intense interpersonal relationships characterized by alternating between extremes of idealization and devaluation
- (3) identity disturbance: markedly and persistently unstable self-image or sense of self
- (4) impulsivity in at least two areas that are potentially self-damaging (e.g., spending, sex, Substance Abuse, reckless driving, binge eating). Note: Do not include suicidal or self-mutilating behavior covered in Criterion 5.

⁴ The DSM IV-TR defines Borderline Personality Disorder as follows:

incorporating the values and standards of society into their lives." *Id.* at 271. Such people often engage in a wide range of antisocial activities, including excessive alcohol use and sexual acting out. *Id.* Such high scorers "do not usually learn from past mistakes or experiences and find in the same difficulties over and over again." *Id.* at 272. Individuals with this profile, he noted, "are often described as being self-centered, narcissistic, egocentric, and selfish." *Id.* They are insensitive to the needs and feelings of other people, often hostile and aggressive, displaying "aggressive and/or assaultive behavior without any signs of guilt or empathy for others." *Id.* In 1994, another DOC psychologist, Dr. Edward Goldenberg, was asked to assess Sease after another period of threats to self-mutilate

⁽⁵⁾ recurrent suicidal behavior, gestures, or threats, or self-mutilating behavior

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